MAR 29 19		_d95	FILEI SID J. WHITE
CASE NO. $8/1,478$ DOUGLAS J. LOVE, Petitioner, VS. LUZ MARIA GARCIA, Respondent. / PETITIONERS' BRIEF ON JURISDICTION AND APPENDIX JOHN R. HARGROVE, ESQUIRE HEINRICH GORDON BATCHELDER HARGROVE & WEIHE Attorneys for Petitioner Broward Financial Centre, 10th Floor 500 East Broward Bouleward Florida 33301	~	SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA	MAR 29 1993

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

This case arose from an automobile accident on April 3, 1986 in which petitioner, Douglas Love, struck respondent, Luz Maria Garcia, a pedestrian who was crossing the street against a red light. The specific issue involved here is what constitutes a proper predicate for admitting business records into evidence under Section 90.803(6) of the Florida Statutes (App. 9) as an exception to the hearsay exclusionary rule.

At the trial, petitioner sought to introduce the results of two blood alcohol tests of the respondent taken while she was hospitalized immediately after the accident. Petitioner also sought to introduce testimony that she was intoxicated at the time of the accident. By way of background, the first blood test, showing a .23 blood alcohol level, was performed by SmithKline on a specimen taken immediately upon respondent's arrival at the hospital. The second test, showing a .14 blood alcohol level, was performed at the hospital on a specimen taken a couple of hours after she was admitted.

In his pre-trial catalogue, petitioner listed and planned to call the records custodians of both the hospital and SmithKline to lay the predicate for the introduction of the two blood alcohol tests. Respondent moved in limine to exclude these test results claiming that petitioner had failed to list any witnesses in his pre-trial catalogue which could lay a proper predicate for admission of the test results. The trial court granted respondent's motion in limine. Thereafter the case was tried, and

< 1.

the jury ultimately awarded respondent \$2 million, reduced by onehalf based upon a 50% comparative factor. Thus, the trial court entered a final judgment against petitioner for \$1 million. It later denied petitioner's motion for new trial.

On appeal, the Fourth District initially reversed the trial court's ruling. In its initial opinion, the court stated that:

[T]he [business records] rule was developed to inconvenience and sometimes eliminate the impossibility of producing witnesses who could testify from their personal knowledge as to the truth of the entries made. The business records exception "is generally recognized because of the reliability of business records supplied by systematic checking, by regularity continuity which produces habits of and precision, by actual experience of business in relying on them, and by a duty to make an accurate record as part of a continuing job or occupation. . . . Thus, as long as a party properly authenticates the records through the testimony of the records custodian or other qualified witness, as prescribed by the rule, they are admissible."

Love, 17 F.L.W. at D2772 n.8 (citations omitted). The Fourth District noted that respondent's sole ground for objecting was respondent's assertion that the records custodian could not properly authenticate the documents. Since petitioner was prepared to call the records custodians of <u>both</u> businesses conducting the tests, however, the court held that the trial court abused its discretion in refusing to admit the evidence. <u>Id.</u> at D2773 n. 8. A petition for rehearing <u>en banc</u> was then filed.

By a six to five margin, the Fourth District withdrew the panel decision and substituted an affirmance of the trial court's exclusion of the blood test results. 17 F.L.W. D2768. Incredibly,

the court held that a proper predicate to admit a blood test as a business record under Section 90.803(6) must include "evidence as to the drawing of the blood, the chain of custody, the administration of the test, and the interpretation and reporting of the test result." Since the record is devoid of any claim of untrustworthiness of the evidence,¹ it frankly appears as though the majority was simply attempting to rewrite the evidence code by finding an implied presumption of untrustworthiness of all blood alcohol tests as perhaps an "exception to the exception".

WHY DISCRETIONARY REVIEW SHOULD BE EXERCISED

This case presents an essential question relating to what constitutes a proper foundation for admitting business records under Section 90.803(6) of the Florida Statutes as an exception to the hearsay rule. If the decision of the Fourth District stands, it will go far beyond the bounds of an individual injustice suffered by petitioner. It will undermine the very purpose for which the business records exception to the hearsay rule was enacted -- to avoid inconvenience and expense in admitting such evidence based upon the inherent reliability of business records. Almost inviting further review, the Fourth District admits to prior inconsistency among its own earlier opinions, and then confuses the issue further by creating conflict with the other districts.

٤.,

¹ Judge Warner noted in her dissent that the evidence should have been admitted because "medical records <u>are</u> admissible under section 90.803(6) through a records custodian, unless the <u>opponent</u> carries the burden showing the untrustworthy nature of the evidence." <u>Id.</u> at D2771.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The <u>en banc</u> opinion misinterprets the business records exception to the hearsay rule contained in Section 90.803(6) of the In doing so, the Fourth District virtually Florida Statutes. creates a presumption of untrustworthiness unless every party in the chain of custody can be paraded into court to authenticate the record. As a result, conflict has been created with the Second District decisions in Southern Bakeries Inc. v. Fla. Unemployment Appeals Comm'n, 545 So.2d 898 (Fla. 2d DCA 1989) and Holley v. State, 328 So.2d 224 (Fla. 2d DCA 1976). Conflict has also been created with the Fifth District decisions in Dutilly v. Dep't of Health & Rehabilitative Serv., 450 So.2d 1195 (Fla. 5th DCA 1984) and McEachern v. State, 388 So.2d 244 (Fla. 5th DCA 1980). These other decisions underscore the reason for the rule -- only testimony of a records custodian is required to admit such evidence because the purpose for which the rule was enacted is to avoid the necessity of having to bring to court every person who played a part in the preparation of a particular business record. The rationale is simple -- business records are inherently reliable. So once properly authenticated by a custodian, it is the party opposing such evidence otherwise admissible to come forward and carry the burden of showing the untrustworthy nature of the The rule, in effect, creates a "circumstantial evidence. guarantee" of trustworthiness. The decision of the Fourth District, at best an aberration, requires this court's attention in order to

bring this state's decisional law in line with the clear purpose of the rule.

ARGUMENT

In affirming the exclusion of the reports of the hospital and the independent laboratory, the Fourth District has condoned the exclusion of relevant evidence and has ruled contrary to the justification and need for the business records exception. Business records are deemed unusually reliable for several reasons. They are customarily checked for accuracy, and in actual experience the business of the entire country constantly functions in reliance Under the current ruling in the Fourth District, upon them. however, a litigant can frankly forget the reliability factor since it is now clear that to be admissible records must virtually be The perverse analysis of the Fourth District recreated. essentially throws out the use of the exception by permitting objections (regardless of trustworthiness of the evidence) to trigger an incredible "foundation" burden requiring evidence of the drawing of the blood, chain of custody, and administration and interpretation of the test. Furthermore, even if this foundation were laid, the trial judge can still exclude the evidence as a This interpretation has created direct discretionary matter. conflict with other districts.

For example, in <u>Holley v. State</u>, 328 So.2d 224 (Fla. 2d DCA 1976), the Second District addressed the foundation for admitting business records as a "serious problem," but emphasized that the

& GENT, FORT LAUDERDALE, FLORIDA 33394-3002 OF HEINRICH GORDON BATCHELDER HARGROVE WEIHE OFFICES LAW rule was adopted as an attempt to liberalize the admissibility of business records "to avoid the necessity of bringing to court every person who played a part in the preparation of a particular At issue there was the trial business record." Id. at 226. court's refusal to admit a motel registration card on the theory that the testimony of only the custodian of the record was an insufficient predicate to admit the document. The Second District reversed petitioner's conviction, holding that the custodian's testimony would have been sufficient and that exclusion of the In so holding, the Second District evidence was thus in error. looked to the underlying rationale of the business records exception (then Section 92.36, currently Section 90.803(6)). The court explained:

[T]he justification for . . . [the business records] exception to the hearsay rule is the probability of trustworthiness which is incident to a record kept in the regular course of business and made at or near the time of the act, condition or event of which it purports to be a record.

(emphasis added) Id. at 225.

Years later, in <u>Southern Bakeries Inc. v. Fla. Unemployment</u> <u>Appeals Comm'n</u>, 545 So.2d 898 (Fla. 2d DCA 1989), the Second District addressed the same question. In that case, a SmithKline report was also in issue. The specific test was a urinalysis which an appeals referee (the administrative level of a trial judge) had determined to be inadmissible as a business record unless each person in the "chain of custody" testified. On appeal, the court emphatically disagreed, holding that the appeals referee held a

۰.

"grand misperception of the manner in which section 90.803(6) [wa]s intended to be applied." As in <u>Holley</u>, the Second District again explained that the statute was intended to avoid the necessity of parading into court each and every person in the "chain of custody", and that the testimony only of the custodian of the business record was sufficient. 545 So. 2d at 900. In reviewing the extent of the conflict, it should again be emphasized that in <u>this</u> case, like <u>Southern Bakeries</u>, there was nothing in the record even <u>claiming</u> -- much less establishing -- that the records were untrustworthy. <u>Id.; see</u> 17 F.L.W. D2771 (Warner, J., dissenting).

The Fifth District is aligned with the Second District on this issue. In <u>McEachern v. State</u>, 388 So.2d 244 (Fla. 5th DCA 1980), the Fifth District affirmed the trial court's admission of business records from the sheriff's department where only the custodian of the records testified. The Fifth District concluded that this was a sufficient predicate to admissibility, adopting the Second District's reasoning in <u>Holley</u> that the intent of the statute was to avoid bringing in everybody in the chain of custody to testify.

To the same effect is <u>Dutilly v. Dep't of Health &</u> <u>Rehabilitative Serv.</u>, 450 So.2d 1195 (Fla. 5th DCA 1984). Although <u>Dutilly</u> involved a summary judgment review, the "business records" situation was in issue. The court explained that one way to establish an adequate foundation for consideration of a business record as competent evidence in a summary judgment proceeding is simply to submit an affidavit of the custodian of the report.

GENT, FORT LAUDERDALE, FLORIDA 33394-3002 OF HEINRICH GORDON BATCHELDER HARGROVE WEIHE & OFFICES LAW

Unlike the Fourth District's present posture, the Second and Fifth Districts expressly reject the notion that the rule requires a "chain of custody" predicate. The very underpinning of the rule is based upon the <u>inherent</u> trustworthiness of a business record. Going beyond the custodial test -- unless there is a <u>demonstrated</u> need to do so -- creates a potential barrier to admissibility that belies the "business records" exception.

CONCLUSION

The Fourth District has misconstrued the business records exception to the hearsay rule. In doing so, the court has created direct conflict with at least two other district courts of appeal, necessitating this court's involvement for at least three reasons. First, use of the business records exception has obvious widespread impact. This is not a problem with isolated application. Second, the decision to be reviewed is at odds with the very reason for adopting the rule as an exception to the laws of hearsay. And third, the Fourth District's holding clearly adds unnecessary time and expense to litigation by forcing a litigant effectively to recreate the business record, rather than simply presenting a custodian for authentication of the actual records kept in accordance with Florida Statutes § 90.803(6).