IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

Tallahassee, Florida

CASE NO. 81,478



DOUGLAS J. LOVE,

Petitioner,

vs.

LUZ MARIA GARCIA,

Respondent.

ON DISCRETIONARY REVIEW FROM THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL OF THE STATE OF FLORIDA, FOURTH DISTRICT

RESPONDENT'S BRIEF ON JURISDICTION

SHELDON J. SCHLESINGER, P.A. 1212 Southeast Third Avenue Ft. Lauderdale, FL 33316 (305) 467-8800 and JANE KREUSLER-WALSH, P.A. Suite 503 - Flagler Center 501 South Flagler Drive West Palm Beach, FL 33401 (407) 659-5455

TABLE	OF	CONTENTS

	<u>Page</u>
Preface	1
Statement of the Case and Facts	1-3
Summary of Argument	3-4
Argument

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

The plaintiff cannot accept the defendant's statement of the case and facts because it is incomplete, and, in some respects, inaccurate. The issue is not what constitutes a proper predicate for admitting business records into evidence under Section 90.803(6), Florida Statutes, but, as the Fourth District phrased it, "the application of F.E.C. Section 90.803(6)(b) to trial court decisions excluding hospital records." (A 1-2).

The defendant's statement on page 4 of his brief, that the record is "devoid of any untrustworthiness of the evidence" is incorrect. The record is replete with evidence of untrustworthiness.

The first blood test, done at Smithkline, an outside laboratory, was not ordered by any doctor, nurse, or care provider at the hospital but by a policeman who accompanied the plaintiff to the hospital (A 11). There was no suggestion that any life or death medical decision was made or influenced by the test (A 11). The first blood sample was drawn on April 4, 1986, at 12:25 <u>P.M.</u> and showed a blood alcohol level of .23 (SR 56-58, p. 9, 18). The typed name on the report was "Jane Doe"; a handwritten notation on the side of the report indicated, "Garcia Luz 372-A" (SR 56-88, p.19). The results were reported on April 4, 1986 at 08:51 (SR 56-88, p. 19). The defendant's expert <u>speculated</u> that the time shown on the Smithkline report for drawing the sample was wrong and should have been 12:25 <u>A.M</u> (SR 56-88, p. 9, 18-19).

The second test was done in the hospital, but there was no showing as to who requested it or why, nor any suggestion that any health care provider at the hospital considered the blood alcohol in treating the plaintiff for her injuries (A 11). Nor was there evidence that by the time the results of either of these tests became available, they were relevant in any way to her treatment (A 11).

The plaintiff challenged the reliability and/or trustworthiness of the reports at the pretrial motion in limine. Plaintiff's counsel objected to the reports because there were no:

> witnesses who have any first-hand knowledge as to how those tests were administered; who drew

the blood; what kind of tests were performed; the procedures that were followed or anything at all on how the specific blood tests were performed (R 8).

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Prior decisions of this Court and other appellate courts routinely hold that the mere presence of a lab report showing blood alcohol in a hospital record does not make it admissible. The Fourth District's opinion is consistent with the prior case law interpreting Section 90.803(6) as requiring a predicate that relates to the accuracy, reliability, and trustworthiness of the entry. As with any evidentiary determination, the trial court retains the discretion to assess the evidence for admissibility from the standpoints of relevancy, materiality, competency, expert opinion, or the possibility that inherent prejudice may outweigh probative value.

The defendant produced nothing to connect the plaintiff to these tests. The defendant did not call the technician who performed the tests and in fact, the technician's identity was unknown. Because of the lack of any testimony authenticating these laboratory reports and the irreconcilable inconsistencies in the reports themselves, the trial court properly refused to admit them into evidence. The Fourth District's decision is consistent with established Florida law on this issue.

The only reason the Fourth District en banced this case was because that court had conflicting opinions on this issue: <u>Thunderbird Drive-In Theatre v. Reed, By and Through Reed</u>, 571 So. 2d 1341 (Fla. 4th DCA 1990), <u>rev. denied</u>, 577 So. 2d 1328 (Fla. 1991), and <u>Kurynka v. Tamarac Hosp. Corp., Inc.</u>, 542 So. 2d 412 (Fla. 4th DCA), <u>rev. denied</u>, 551 So. 2d 462, 463 (Fla. 1989). The Fourth District's en banc opinion clarified what had been an inconsistency <u>in that court</u>. The petitioner/defendant claims no conflict on the specific narrow issue in this case. This is not a question of great public importance, there is no conflict, and review should be denied.

ARGUMENT

ISSUE

THE DECISION OF THE FOURTH DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL DOES NOT EXPRESSLY AND DIRECTLY CONFLICT WITH ANY OTHER REPORTED APPELLATE DECISION.

None of the cases the defendant cites for conflict involve admission of blood alcohol tests through a records custodian. <u>Southern Bakeries, Inc. v. Florida Unemployment Appeals Com'n.</u>, 545 So. 2d 898 (Fla. 2d DCA 1989), involved a urinalysis lab report. <u>Dutilly v. Department of Health & Rehabilitative Serv.</u>, 450 So. 2d 1195 (Fla. 5th DCA 1984), involved blood test results for paternity. <u>McEachern v. State</u>, 388 So. 2d 244 (Fla. 5th DCA 1980), involved books and records of the sheriff's department.

Holley v. State, 328 So. 2d 224 (Fla. 2d DCA 1976), involved a motel registration card.

Prior decisions of this court and other appellate courts routinely hold that the mere presence of a lab report showing blood alcohol in a hospital record does not make it an admissible "business record". <u>See, National Car Rental System, Inc. v.</u> <u>Holland</u>, 269 So. 2d 407, 409 (Fla. 4th DCA 1972), <u>cert. denied</u>, 273 So. 2d 768 (Fla. 1973); <u>Brevard County v. Jacks</u>, 238 So. 2d 156 (Fla. 4th DCA 1970). In <u>State v. Bender</u>, 382 So. 2d 697 (Fla. 1980), this court stated on page 700:

> ... The results of blood alcohol tests are admissible into evidence ... if the traditional predicate is laid which establishes the reliability of the test, the qualifications of the operator, and the meaning of the test results by expert testimony.

Other appellate courts besides the Fourth District which have considered the issue all held that blood alcohol test results contained in hospital records are <u>not</u> admissible through the testimony of a hospital records custodian. <u>Riggins v. Mariner Boat</u> <u>Works, Inc.</u>, 545 So. 2d 430 (Fla. 2d DCA 1989); <u>City of Tampa v.</u> <u>Green</u>, 390 So. 2d 1220 (Fla. 1st DCA 1980).

<u>Chilton v. Dockstader</u>, 126 So. 2d 281 (Fla. 2d DCA 1961), held as follows on page 282 of the opinion:

> Hospital records are defined by § 382.31, Florida Statutes, F.S.A. but not every hospital paper connected with the patient's case is admissible as a hospital record. <u>See Florida</u> <u>Power & Light Co. v. Bridgeman</u>, 133 Fla. 195,

182 So. 911. The documents involved in the case at bar were entitled "progress notes" and "consultation notes" and because of their hearsay content there was undoubtedly serious question about their admissibility. ...

As the Fourth District recognized in its en banc opinion, the Florida Evidence Code is different from the federal rules and requires that business records evidence be able to stand alone as opinion evidence, even if it meets the other requirements of the statute:

> The most important feature of the Florida version of the business records exception is in the addition of subsection (b) which is not contained in the federal rule. This provision a requirement that business record adds evidence be able to stand alone as opinion evidence, even if it otherwise meets the requirements of the statute. <u>The essential</u> meaning of subsection (b) is thus the trial judge has broad discretion to exclude any medical record, or entry in a record or chart, upon a conclusion that it would not be admissible as an opinion, even if the entrant of the record were present in court and testified. (Emphasis added) (A 78).

Section 90.803(6)(b), Florida Statutes, requires that the proponent demonstrate, at a minimum, the qualifications of the individual rendering the opinion or diagnosis in order to determine the admissibility of the evidence. Section 90.803(6)(b) provides as follows:

> (b) No evidence in the form of an opinion or diagnosis is admissible under paragraph (a) unless such opinion or diagnosis would be admissible under ss. 90-701-90.705 if the person whose opinion would be recorded were to testify to the opinion directly.

Some of the very cases that the defendant relies on for conflict support the Fourth District's interpretation of the business records exception as applied to blood alcohol tests. <u>Dutilly v. Department of Health & Rehabilitative Serv.</u>, 450 So. 2d 1195, 1197 (Fla. 5th DCA 1984), held that in order for blood tests to be admissible under the business records exception, the proponent must demonstrate the following:

> the results were compiled in the course of regularly conducted activity, by someone or from information transmitted by someone with knowledge, that the practice of the "business" activity was to keep such record <u>and that the</u> opinion of paternity contained in the report would be admissible under Section 90.701 through 90.705. (Emphasis added)

The last phrase refers to Section 90.803(6)(b), which requires knowing the qualifications of the individual rendering the opinion or diagnosis to determine the admissibility of the evidence.

McEachern v. State, 388 So. 2d 244 (Fla. 5th DCA 1980), upon which petitioner relies, held that the trial court had properly exercised its discretion in determining that various books and records of the sheriff's department were admissible because the proponent laid the proper predicate and foundation for reception of business records under the statute. Conversely, the predicate and the historical basis for trustworthiness of a medical record is absent from the tests here (A 11).

Prior decisions of this court and other appellate courts routinely hold that the mere presence of a lab report showing blood alcohol in a hospital record does not make it admissible. As the Fourth District held, there are good reasons for treating blood alcohol readings differently (A 12). A high blood alcohol reading is a serious accusation to make against a plaintiff or a defendant in a civil case or a defendant in a criminal case. To reverse this case for a new trial, where the defendant presented no evidence that the plaintiff had a high blood alcohol reading, except two pieces of paper inserted into the hospital records, does not comport with logic and reason.

The Fourth District's en banc opinion does not, as the defendant claims, discard the business records exceptions to the hearsay rule. The Fourth District's opinion is consistent with prior case law interpreting Section 90.803(6) as requiring a predicate that relates to the accuracy, reliability and trustworthiness of the entry. Proper predicate means evidence as to the drawing of the blood, chain of custody, the administration of the tests, and the interpretation and reporting of the test results (A 13). As with any evidentiary determination, the trial court retains the discretion to assess the evidence for admissibility from the standpoints of relevance, materiality, competency, expert opinion, or the possibility that inherent prejudice may outweigh probative value (A 13).

The defendant produced nothing to connect plaintiff to these tests. The defendant did not call the technician who performed the test to explain what he did, how he did it, or the results. In fact, the technician's identity was unknown. In addition, the test results themselves were highly suspect. Because of the lack of any testimony authenticating these laboratory reports and the inconsistencies in the reports themselves which could not be reconciled, the trial court properly refused to admit these reports into evidence, merely because they happened to be contained in the hospital records. The Fourth District's decision is consistent with established Florida law on this issue and there is no conflict.

CONCLUSION

Review should be denied.

SHELDON J. SCHLESINGER, P.A. 1212 Southeast Third Avenue Ft. Lauderdale, FL 33316 (305) 467-8800 and JANE KREUSLER-WALSH, P.A. Suite 503 - Flagler Center 501 South Flagler Drive West Palm Beach, FL 33401 (407) 659-5455